
WOODBURY COUNTY  
ZONING COMMISSION 

Monday, September 25, 2023 at 5:00 PM 
The Zoning Commission will hold a public meeting on Monday, September 25, 2023 at 5:00 PM in the Board 
of Supervisors’ meeting room in the Basement of the Woodbury County Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, 
Sioux City, IA.  Please use the 7th St. entrance.  Public access to the conversation of the meeting will also be 
made available during the meeting by telephone. Persons wanting to participate in the public meeting and 
public hearings on the agenda may attend in person or call: (712) 454-1133 and enter the Conference ID: 638 
086 537#  during the meeting to listen or comment.  It is recommended to attend in person as there is the 
possibility for technical difficulties with phone and computer systems. 

AGENDA

1 CALL TO ORDER

2 ROLL CALL

3 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

4 APPROVAL OF MINUTES: September 11, 2023

5 ITEM(S) OF BUSINESS

» PUBLIC HEARING: TOWNLEY ADDITION, MINOR SUBDIVISION PROPOSAL ON PARCEL #894607100007
PROPOSED MINOR SUBDIVISION: To be known as Townley Addition, a one-lot minor subdivision in a 4.96-acre portion of Section 7, T89N 
R46W (Concord Township) in the NW ¼ of the NW ¼ on Parcel #894607100007.  The parent parcel abuts the corporate boundary of Sioux 
City along Barker Avenue.  The property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and in the Zone A of the Special 
Flood Hazard Area (floodplain).  Owner/Applicant: Donald J. Townley in his capacity as Trustee of the Derrill J. Townley Revocable Trust, 
1414 110th St., Sioux City, IA 51108. 

» REVIEW OF CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION: PROPOSED TELECOMMUNICATION TOWER 120 
FT MONOPOLE ON PARCEL #874316300005 
Conditional Use Permit application by AMG Technology Group DBA Nextlink (Applicant) and Shelle Baldwin (Ownership) to install a 120 FT 
monopole telecommunication tower to supply high speed internet to surrounding areas.  The property is located on Parcel #874316300005 
in T87N R43W (Miller Township) in Section 16 in the SE ¼ of the SW ¼.  The property is located about 2.3 miles south of Anthon and about 
4.3 miles northeast of Oto.  The property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  Owner(s)/Applicant(s): Mark D. 
Baldwin & Shelle J. Baldwin, 3846 245th St., Anthon, IA 51004-8065 / AMG Technology Group DBA Nextlink, 95 Parker Oaks LN., Hudson 
Oaks, TX 76087. 

» PUBLIC HEARING: SOLAR ENERGY - UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR SYSTEMS – CONSIDERATION OF SOLAR 
ORDINANCES FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS - SUMMARY OF 
PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS: AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TEXT OF THE 
WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE TO AMEND PORTIONS OF: THE TABLE OF CONTENTS; 
SECTION 3.03.4 ENTITLED: LAND USE SUMMARY TABLE OF ALLOWED USES IN EACH ZONING DISTRICT; 
PORTIONS OF: SECTION 6.02 ENTITLED DEFINITIONS; AND THE RENUMBERING OF DEFINITIONS AND 
PAGE NUMBERS.  THE PROPOSAL IS TO ADD SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (UTILITY SCALE) AS A 
CONDITIONAL USE IN THE AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION ZONING DISTRICT AND ADD A NEW SECTION 
TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE TO REGULATE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS, UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY 
SYSTEMS, AGRISOLAR, AGRIVOLTAICS, AND COMMUNITY SOLAR SYSTEMS.

6 PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

7 COMMISSIONER COMMENT OR INQUIRY

8 STAFF UPDATE

9 ADJOURN

1



1 

Minutes - Woodbury County Zoning Commission Special Meeting – September 11, 2023 

The Zoning Commission (ZC) special meeting convened on the 11th of September at 5:00 PM at the Moville 
Community Center in Moville, Iowa.  The meeting was also made available via teleconference.   

ZC Members Present: Chris Zellmer Zant, Corey Meister, Jeff O’Tool, Tom Bride 
County Staff Present:   Dan Priestley, Dawn Norton 
Public Present: Angie Heck, Tony Heck, Kim Luze, Rich Luze, Vicki Atwell, Steve 

Mrla, Leo Jochum, Bev Jochum, Janet Yanak, Tony Yanak, 
Dennis Ragan, JoAnn Sadler, Zach Hummel, Wally Wagner, John 
Johnston, Jeremy Taylor, Kevin Heck, Kyle Gates, Eric Nelson, 
Elizabeth Widman, Rebekah Moerer, Genise Hallowell, Kalyn 
Heetland, Josh Heetland, Elisabeth Cendejas, Jesus Cendejas, 
Robert Knaack, Greg Jochum, Brad Jochum, Tom Jochum, Bob 
Fritzmeier  

Call to Order 
Chair Chris Zant formally called the meeting to order at 5:00 PM.  Four Commissioners were present.  
Commissioner Parker was absent.  

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
None 

Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes – July 24, 2023  
O’Tool motioned to approve the minutes from July 24, 2023. Second: Bride.  Motion carried: 4-0. 

Formal approval of Zoning Commission Rules of Procedure 
At the July 24, 2023 meeting of the Zoning Commission, the rules of procedure were approved and sent to the Board 
of Supervisors who voted to approve the rules on August 8, 2023. Motion to formally adopt the rules and authorize 
the chair to sign the Rules of Procedure by Meister. Second: O’Tool.  Motion carried:  4-0. 

Public Hearing: Proposed Janet Heck Subdivision (Parcel #874724300005) 
Priestley read the preliminary report and staff recommendation into the record. Kevin Heck, executor for Janet K. 
Heck has filed for a one (1) lot minor subdivision on the property identified as Parcel #8747243000005.  This 
subdivision is being completed to separate the house location from the farm ground.  This agricultural subdivision 
proposal has been properly noticed tin the Sioux City Journal legals section on August 29, 2023.  The neighbors 
within 1000 FT have been duly notified via an August 23, 2023 letter about the September 11, 2023 Zoning 
Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations 
have been notified and have been requested to comment.  The Woodbury County Engineer found the proposal in 
compliance with Iowa Code closure requirements and found that the lot(s) have adequate access.  This property is 
located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is located in the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) 
– Zone A.  The City of Salix waived their extraterritorial review authority with the approval of Resolution No. 2023-
20.  The area of the subdivision is less than 5 acres and the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) data is not required.  
Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the 
proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  Motion to close public hearing: O’Tool. Second: Bride.  
Carried: 4-0. Motion to recommend the approval to the Board of Supervisors as proposed: O’Tool.  Second: 
Meister.  Motion carried: 4-0. 

Public Haring: Proposed Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment (Rezone) (Parcel #884506200006) 
Priestley read into record the preliminary report and staff recommendation.  Richard and Kimberly Luze (Applicants/ 
Owners) have filed a Zoning ordinance Map Amendment application with Woodbury County to request their property 
(Parcel #884506200006) be rezoned from Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District to the Agricultural Estates 
(AE) Zoning District.  The applicants are making this request to pursue an eventual split of their parcel to facilitate the 
ability to add a neighboring single-family dwelling in the future as there are presently two houses located within the 
existing quarter-quarter section.  The split will likely consist of approximately three acres from the existing 18+ acres.  
This will be initiated at a future date.  The neighbors within 1000 FT have been notified via an August 23, 2023 letter 
about the September 11, 2023 Zoning Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government 
agencies, utilities, and organizations have been notified and have been requested to comment.  This property is 
located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is not located in the floodplain.  This requested zoning 
change is compliant with the future land use map of Woodbury County’s development plan as this area is designated 
within the rural residential area.  Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and 
Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  Staff recommends approval.  
Priestley has received some phone inquiries regarding future land uses.  A Neighboring landowner spoke with 
concerns of possible subdivisions and increasing density.  Priestley stated with Hwy 20 abutting the land, the state 

2



2

would likely not allow more driveways off Hwy 20.  If additional land splits were requested through a subdivision 
application, there would be public conversations and meetings.  Ms. Atwell expressed concerns if a subdivision would 
go in and how it could affect her cattle farming.  Bride stated it would have no impact on what she is currently doing 
and stated communication between landowners is important.  Steve Mrla stated DOT could build a frontage road 
which would allow more access.  Bride discussed how eliminant domain should not be used for private use.  Bride 
motioned to close public hearing.  Second: Meister. Carried: 4-0.   Motion to recommend the approval to the Board 
of Supervisors as proposed: Meister.  Second: Bride.  Motion carried: 4-0. 

Public Hearing: Utility-Scale Solar Systems – Consideration of Solar Ordinances for Recommendation(s) to 
the Board of Supervisors 
Priestley read into the record the direction by the Woodbury County Board of Supervisors that occurred on August 
8, 2023 for Planning and Zoning and the Zoning Commission to establish/examine a new ordinance as it relates to 
utility-scale solar systems.  The purpose of this public hearing is to receive comments from the public about solar 
energy systems not limited to utility-scale solar systems, agrisolar or agrivoltaics, and community solar systems as 
the Commission works toward preparing a recommendation for a proposed ordinance or amendments to the 
Woodbury County Zoning ordinance to address the permitting process for such systems in industrial and/or 
agricultural areas.  The Board of Supervisors have indicated that “if the county was to engage in utility-scale solar, 
at minimum, the county should consider this only if the following is met”: 

 A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to be able to site-
specifically take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/soil, and other factors when approving 
permit. 

 A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and 
future land stewardship. 

 A maximum height of no more than 20’ for panel structures. 

 Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or 
no longer considered “AP.” 

 Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% of AP.  This 
equates to approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 
570,000 total acres in Woodbury County. 

 Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet. 

 A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner’s 
property or that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

Priestley identified additional comments/resources that were received after the printing of the Zoning Commission 
agenda packet with backup materials.  In particular, resources were received from the Center of Rural Affairs, the 
Northwest Iowa Power Cooperative (NIPCO), the Woodbury County Rural Electric Cooperative, and the Iowa Land 
& Liberty Coalition.  Additionally, Priestley provided a copy of a map illustrating soil content with less than 5% 
slopes in comparison with soils with CSR2 ratings greater than 65 and 75.  Priestley then offered a summary of 
potential approaches that could be taken to craft an ordinance including which entity would be in charge of the 
permitting.  Looking at other counties, there is a mix of permitting utility-scale solar based on a conditional use 
permit via the Zoning Commission and Board of Adjustment in comparison with a standalone home rule ordinance 
where the Board of Supervisors are the permitting body.  Priestley indicated that the following concepts would be 
up for discussion as an ordinance is considered: Certified Abstractor’s Listing – Public Notification Area; Site Plan; 
Setbacks; Height; Protected Areas; Slope; Landscaping/Buffer/Screening; Fencing/Security; Signage; Lighting; 
Noise; Outdoor Storage; Utility Plan / Utility Connections / Agreements; Floodplain; Habitat and Natural Resource 
Considerations; Solar Glare Minimization; Weed Control; Grading Plan; Compliance with applicable laws (local, 
state, federal); Access; Road Use; Aviation Protection; Maintenance, Repair, or Replacement / Repowering; Waste; 
Soil Erosion / Sediment Control; Stormwater Management; Administration / Enforcement / Violations; Emergency 
Management; Timeline; Safety; Abandonment / Cessation of Operations; Decommissioning and Reclamation; 
Fees; Agrivoltaics / Agrisolar; Community Solar Systems; Concentrating Solar Power; Solar definitions; Etc. 

The following paraphrased public comments were offered: 

Greg Jochum (Salix) addressed the Commission regarding the differences between CSR1 and CSR2 as well as 
height. 

Brad Jochum (Plymouth County) addressed the Commission regarding out of county ownership. 

Tom Jochum (Sgt. Bluff) addressed the Commission regarding the advantages of solar. 

Eric Nelson (Moville) addressed the Commission regarding solar as a commercial/industrial entity. 

3



3

Ron Wood (Salix) addressed the Commission regarding the need for solar power generation for growth. 

Elizabeth Widman (Sgt. Bluff) addressed the Commission regarding the stewardship and protection of agricultural 
land from solar development. 

Bob Fritzmeyer (Sioux City) addressed the Commission regarding how solar installations help soil to rejuvenate 
and help the wildlife population. 

Leo Jochum (Salix) addressed the Commission regarding renewable energy rates, vegetation for screening, 
capping AP land at 2%, and soil rejuvenation.   

Kim Alexander (Smithland) addressed the Commission regarding money as a principal purpose for solar. 

Will Dougherty (Urbandale) addressed the Commission on how MidAmerican works with various stakeholders as 
they pursue solar projects and offered an opportunity to tour the Port Neal solar site. 

Ann Johnston (Salix) addressed the Commission with concerns on the impact of the farm ground and keeping the 
land the way it is. 

Wally Kuntz (Moville) addressed the Commission inquiring about the tax income. 

Supervisor Jeremy Taylor (Sioux City) addressed the Commission and responded to Mr. Kuntz's inquiry about 
generation usage tax. 

Bride asked Will Dougherty from MidAmerican where the largest project was in Iowa, Dougherty stated Holiday 
Creek, north of Fort Dodge has an 800-acre, 100 M/Watt project.  8 acres generally produces 1 M/Watt.    

Bride asked if there have been any requests to the Iowa Utilities Board for eminent domain for a commercial solar 
project.   

Eric Nelson asked Dougherty about storage of excess power.  Dougherty stated it is not an on-demand system.  
The grid goes where needed first, then to next load center.  Port Neal is an on-demand system.  Dougherty stated 
coal system is used as a back up to solar. 

Motion to close public hearing: Meister.  Second: O’Tool.  Carried: 4-0. 

Priestley thanked the attendees for their comments and questions.  The information gathered will be taken into 
consideration as a proposal is prepared and possibly recommended by the Zoning Commission that would 
eventually go to the Board of Supervisors for up to three hearings.  The next meeting of the Zoning Commission will 
be held on Monday, September 25 at 5:00 PM in the basement meeting room of the Woodbury County Courthouse 
where the Board of Supervisors meet.   

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
None. 

Commissioner Comment or Inquiry 
None. 

Staff Update 
Priestley stated that the minor subdivision and rezone that were recommended this evening will be sent to the 
Board of Supervisors for consideration at future meeting(s). 

Adjourn 
Motion by Bride to adjourn; Second by O’Tool.  Carried: 4-0.  Adjourned: 6:34 p.m. 

4



WOODBURY COUNTY COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
620 Douglas St. · Sixth Floor · Sioux City, IA 51101 · Phone: 712.279.6609 · Fax: 712.279.6530 · Web: woodburycountyiowa.gov

Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator · dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov 
Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk · dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

PRELIMINARY REPORT – SEPTEMBER 21, 2023

TOWNLEY ADDITION - MINOR SUBDIVISION PROPOSAL

Application Details Property Details Contents

Applicant(s)/Owner(s): Don Townley

Application Type: Minor Subdivision

Name of Subdivision: Townley Addition

Application Date: August 17, 2023

Number of Lots: 1

Total Acres: 4.96

Extraterritorial Review: July 24, 2023 (Sioux City)

Legal Notice Date: September 14, 2023

Neighbor(s) Notice Date: September 11, 2023

Stakeholder(s) Notice 
Date:

August 29, 2023

Zoning Commission 
Public Hearing Date:

September 25, 2023

Board of Supervisors 
Agenda Date:

TBD

Attorney: Joel D. Vos

Surveyor: Alan L. Fagan

Parcel #: 894607100007

Township/Range: T89N R46W (Concord)

Section: 7

Quarter: NW ¼ NW ¼ 

Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation

Floodplain District: Zone A (Floodplain)

Address: 1414 110th St., Sioux City, 
IA 51108

Summary, Location Aerial, Site Plan Excerpt, 
Recommendation, & Suggested Motion

Legal Notification

Neighbor(s) Notification

Stakeholder(s) Comments

Review Criteria / Applicant Responses

Application

Supporting Documentation

SUMMARY

Donald J. Townley, in his capacity as Trustee of the Derrill J. Townley Revocable Trust has filed for a one (1) lot minor subdivision on the property identified as Parcel 
#894607100007 and referenced above.  This subdivision is being completed to separate the house location from the abutting ground.  This proposal has been properly 
noticed in the Sioux City Journal legals section on September 14, 2023.  The neighbors within 1000 FT have been duly notified via a September 11, 2023 letter about the 
September 25, 2023 Zoning Commission public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been notified and have 
been requested to comment.  The Woodbury County Engineer found the proposal in compliance with Iowa Code closure requirements and found that the lot(s) have adequate 
access.  This property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District and is located in the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) – Zone A.  The City of Sioux 
City conducted extraterritorial review with the acceptance and approval of the final plat with the approval of Resolution No. 2023-0696.  The area of the subdivision is less 
than 5 acres and Base Flood Elevation (BFE) data is not required.  Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision 
Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  

AERIAL VIEW FINAL PLAT EXCERPT

STAFF RECOMMENDATION & SUGGESTED MOTION

Based on the information received and the requirements set forth in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval.  Staff 
recommends approval.  Suggested Motion:  Motion to recommend the approval to the Board of Supervisors as proposed.

5



APPLICATION 

6



0 50 100

I, TINA BERTRAND, TREASURER OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, DO HEREBY 
CERTIFY THAT THE LAND DESCRIBED IN THE ATTACHED AND FOREGOING 
SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE IS FREE FROM CERTIFIED TAXES AND CERTIFIED 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.

DATED__________________________________

_________________________________________
TINA BERTRAND
TREASURER,
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA

TOWNLEY
ADDITION

7-89-46 NW NW III
2023 (38)

SCALE 1"=100'

30
.0
1'

46
8.
00
'

N 
1°
38
'3
2"
 E

CO
UN
TY
 R
IG
HT
 O
F 
WA
Y

4.96 AC. INCLUDING COUNTY RIGHT OF WAY
4.12 AC. EXCLUDING COUNTY RIGHT OF WAY

WE
ST
 L
IN
E 

N.
W.
1/
4-
N.
W.
1/
4

SE
C.
 7
-8
9-
46

S 
1°
38
'3
2"
 W

46
8.
00
'

IN
G

R
E

SS
/E

G
R

E
SS

N 89°29'24" W
462.00'

30.00'
N 89°29'24" W

33'

85
7.
30
'

N 
1°
38
'3
2"
 E

EXISTING
ENTRANCE

S.W. CORNER
N.W.1/4-N.W.1/4
SEC. 7-89-46
FOUND 1/2" YELLOW
CAPPED REBAR
#15082

26
4.
90
'

N 
0°
07
'1
9"
 E

26
6.
27
'

S 
0°
07
'1
9"
 W

20
1.
21
'

117.76'

POINT OF
BEGINNING
EASEMENT

LANE

462.00'
S 89°29'24" E

COUNTY RIGHT OF WAY
BOOK 1166, PAGE 469

110TH ST.

C L

CL
NORTH LINE
N.W.1/4-N.W.1/4
SEC. 7-89-46

S 89°29'24" E
246.69'

POINT OF
BEGINNING

B
A

R
K

E
R

 A
V

E
.

LOT 1

N.W. CORNER
N.W.1/4-N.W.1/4
SEC. 7-89-46
FOUND BOLT IN
ASPHALT ROAD

50
'

33'

S 
13
°3
1'
07
" 
E

67
.2
0'

72
.2
8'

N 
13
°3
1'
07
" 
W

83
.1
9'

N 
4°
17
'5
0"
 W

S 
4°
17
'5
0"
 E

86
.7
6'

18
6.
78
'

INLET END OF
RCB CULVERT
SOUTH OF RIGHT
OF WAY LINE

E
A

SE
M

E
N

T

STA. 10+55.00
NEW TWIN 12'X8'
RCB CULVERTEX

IS
TI
NG

EN
TR
AN
CE

30.92'

50
'

2271.08'
S 89°29'24" E

N.E. CORNER
N.W.1/4
SEC. 7-89-46
FOUND BOLT IN
ASPHALT ROAD

CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY ASSESSOR
I, JULIE CONOLLY, HEREBY CERTIFY THAT ON THE ______ DAY 
OF _____________________, 202__, A COPY OF THIS PLAT WAS 
FILED IN THE WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR'S OFFICE.

DATED ________________________________

________________________________________
JULIE CONOLLY
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR

LOT 1, TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA IS SUBJECT TO AN INGRESS/EGRESS EASEMENT 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  COMMENCING AT THE S.E. CORNER OF SAID LOT 1; THENCE N.89°29'24"W. 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1 FOR 117.76 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF SAID 
EASEMENT; THENCE CONTINUING N.89°29'24"W. ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE FOR 30.00 FEET; THENCE 
N.0°07'19"E. FOR 264.90 FEET; THENCE N.4°17'50"W. FOR 83.19 FEET; THENCE N.13°31'07"W. FOR 
72.28 FEET TO THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF 110TH STREET; THENCE S.89°29'24"E. ALONG SAID 
RIGHT OF WAY LINE FOR 30.92 FEET; THENCE S.13°31'07"E. FOR 67.20 FEET; THENCE S.4°17'50"E. 
FOR 86.76 FEET; THENCE S.0°07'19"W. FOR 266.27 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

PART OF THE N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4 OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 46 WEST OF THE 
5TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  BEGINNING AT THE 
N.W. CORNER OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4; THENCE S.89°29'24"E. ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 
SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4 FOR 462.00 FEET; THENCE S.1°38'32"W. FOR 468.00 FEET; THENCE 
N.89°29'24"W. FOR 462.00 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4; THENCE 
N.1°38'32"E. ALONG SAID WEST LINE FOR 468.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 
4.96 ACRES INCLUDING COUNTY RIGHT OF WAY AND 4.12 ACRES EXCLUDING SAID RIGHT OF WAY.  
SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS AND COVENANTS.

NOTE:  THE WEST LINE OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4 IS ASSUMED TO BEAR N.1°38'32"E.  

I, ALAN L. FAGAN, A DULY LICENSED LAND SURVEYOR UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF IOWA, HOLDING CERTIFICATE NO. 15082, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE SUBDIVISION PLAT 
OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, IS A TRUE REPRESENTATION OF A SURVEY MADE BY 
ME OR UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION, AND THAT THE SAME IS LOCATED UPON AND COMPRISES THE 
WHOLE OF THE ATTACHED DESCRIBED PROPERTY.

I DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THERE ARE CONTAINED IN SAID DESCRIPTION THE LOTS AND STREETS 
DESCRIBED IN THE ADDITION PLATTED; THAT THE SAME ARE OF THE DIMENSIONS, NUMBERS, NAMES AND 
LOCATIONS AS SHOWN ON SAID PLAT AND THAT IRON STAKES WERE DRIVEN AT EACH CORNER OF EVERY 
LOT AND TRACT EXCEPT AS NOTED ON SAID PLAT.

DATED AT SIOUX CITY, IOWA _________________________, 2023.

____________________________________
ALAN L. FAGAN
IOWA NO. 15082

LICENSE RENEWAL DATE:  DECEMBER 31, 2023

PART OF THE N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4

SURVEYOR:  ALAN L. FAGAN      712 539-1471
MAIL TO:  AL FAGAN LAND SURVEYING, P.C.
                    P.O. BOX 858 - MERRILL, IA 51038

SECTION(S):                          T.              N.,                     R.              W.

ALIQUOT PART:
CITY:
SUBDIVISION:
BLOCK(S):
LOT(S):
PROPRIETOR(S):

REQUESTED BY:

COUNTY:

INDEX LEGEND

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

DONALD J. TOWNLEY

DERRILL J. TOWNLEY
REVOCABLE TRUST

SURVEYOR'S DESCRIPTION:

897
WOODBURY

TREASURER'S CERTIFICATE OF TAXES AND SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

46

AUDITOR'S APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISION NAME OR TITLE
THE COUNTY AUDITOR HEREBY ACCEPTS AND APPROVES THE NAME 
OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, FOR USE IN 
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA AS REQUIRED BY IOWA CODE SECTION 
354.6(2).

DATED __________________________, 2023.

______________________________
PATRICK F. GILL
WOODBURY COUNTY AUDITOR
BY:  DIANE SWOBODA PETERSON, DEPUTY

ALAN L.
FAGAN

AWOI

# 15082

R
O

E
Y

V

RUS
DNALLA

O N
I

S
S

E
F

O
R

P

= 1/2" YELLOW CAPPED
  REBAR #15082 SET

= MAG SPIKE SET

= MAG NAIL SET IN
  ASPHALT ROAD

= NOTHING SET

THERE MAY BE OTHER EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS AND 
COVENANTS NOT SHOWN THAT AFFECT LOT 1, TOWNLEY 
ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA.

NOTE:

FRONT YARD - 100'

SIDE YARD - 20'
ACCESSORY STRUCTURE - 10'

REAR YARD - 50'
ACCESSORY STRUCTURE - 10'

ALAN L. FAGAN

DERRILL J. TOWNLEY
REVOCABLE TRUST

SETBACK REQUIREMENTS

SURVEYOR

OWNER/SUBDIVIDER
BE
NT
ONHW

Y 
75

120TH ST.

BE
NT
ON

VICINITY SKETCH
NO SCALE

OUTER DRIVE 28TH

LANDFILL

130TH ST.

SEC. 18-89-46

41ST

46TH

NILES
2ND

BA
RK
ER

110TH ST.

SIOUX CITY

RI
VE
R

SEC. 7-89-46HI
GH
WA
Y 
75
 B
YP
AS
S

FL
OY
D

SEC. 6-89-46

MONUMENTS

ANNEXATION AGREEMENT CERTIFICATE
THE PROPERTY INCLUDED ON THE ATTACHED PLAT IS SUBJECT TO AN ANNEXATION 
AGREEMENT RECORDED AS INSTRUMENT # ________________________ IN THE 
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE.

CERTIFICATE OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
WE DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT WE ARE THE CHAIRPERSON AND ECONOMIC AND 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, RESPECTIVELY, OF THE PLANNING AND 
ZONING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA, AND WE DO 
FURTHER CERTIFY THAT SAID PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION DID TAKE 
UNDER ADVISEMENT THE ATTACHED PLAT OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY 
COUNTY, IOWA, AND THAT SAID PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION DID ON 
THE ________ DAY OF ____________________, 2023 RECOMMEND TO THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA, THE ACCEPTANCE AND 
APPROVAL OF THE PLAT OF SAID SUBDIVISION.  

DATED ________________________________

______________________________________
ANDREW GLISAR
CHAIRPERSON

DATED ________________________________

______________________________________
MARTIN DOUGHERTY
ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

I, MARK NAHRA, P.E. COUNTY ENGINEER FOR WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, DO 
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE BOUNDARY LINES OF THE PLAT AND LOTS THEREIN 
WERE MATHEMATICALLY CHECKED AND CONFORM WITH THE REQUIREMENTS AS 
PROVIDED FOR IN THE SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE, THAT ALL DIMENSIONS BOTH 
LINEAL AND ANGULAR NECESSARY FOR THE LOCATION OF LOTS, TRACTS, 
STREETS, ALLEYS AND EASEMENTS ARE SHOWN.

____________________________________
MARK NAHRA, P.E.
COUNTY ENGINEER
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA

AUDITOR AND RECORDER'S CERTIFICATE OF RECORDING
STATE OF IOWA     :
                   :  SS
COUNTY OF WOODBURY:

DOCKET NO: ________________________________

FILED FOR RECORD, THIS _______DAY OF____________________________, 
202___ AT ______ 

O'CLOCK ___.M. RECORDED IN PLAT ENVELOPE _________________________, 
INDEXED AND 

DELIVERED TO THE COUNTY AUDITOR OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA.

DATED _____________________________                          

____________________________________
PATRICK F. GILL
AUDITOR AND RECORDER
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA
BY:  DIANE SWOBODA PETERSON, DEPUTY

Re:  Townley Addition Description:
	
PARCEL DESCRIPTION:
PART OF THE N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4 OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 
46 WEST OF THE 5TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS:  BEGINNING AT THE N.W. CORNER OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4; 
THENCE S.89°29'24"E. ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4 
FOR 462.00 FEET; THENCE S.1°38'32"W. FOR 468.00 FEET; THENCE 
N.89°29'24"W. FOR 462.00 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE 
N.W.1/4; THENCE N.1°38'32"E. ALONG SAID WEST LINE FOR 468.00 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 4.96 ACRES INCLUDING COUNTY RIGHT OF WAY 
AND 4.12 ACRES EXCLUDING SAID RIGHT OF WAY.  SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH 
ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS AND COVENANTS.

NOTE:  THE WEST LINE OF SAID N.W.1/4 OF THE N.W.1/4 IS ASSUMED TO BEAR 
N.1°38'32"E.  COUNTY AUDITOR AND RECORDER 
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA

Dear Auditor and Recorder:

We have this date examined a complete abstract of title, pursuant to Iowa 
Code Section 354.11(3), to the property described in the Surveyor's 
Certificate on the Plat of Townley Addition, an Addition to Woodbury 
County, Iowa, last certified by Sedgwick Tally Abstract, dated 
__________________, 2023 at ______ A.M. and from said abstract find good 
and merchantable title to said premises vested in the Derrill J. Townley 
Revocable Trust under instrument dated April 15, 2021, the proprietor, 
free and clear of all mortgages, liens and other encumbrances, except as 
follows:

1.	At entry 1 of the abstract is shown an Easement dated May 5, 1941 and 
filed August 6, 1941 at Book 154, Page 191.  The easement granted to 
Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. and its successors and assigns, the right 
to lay pipelines for the transportation of oil and gas across the N 1/2 
of the NW 1/4 of Section 7. Twp. 89, Range 46.  From the abstract, it 
cannot be determined whether any portion of the pipeline, as constructed, 
crosses any portion of the property described in the Surveyor's 
Certificate on the Plat of Townley Addition.  At entries 2 and 7 of the 
abstract are shown subsequent conveyances of the Easement, so that the 
current owner of the pipeline is Williams Pipe Line Company, by virtue of 
an assignment dated October 31, 1983 and file January 10, 1984 at Roll 
138, Image 1428. 

2.	At entry 6 of the abstract is shown a Right of Way Easement to the 
Woodbury County Rural Electric Cooperative Association dated September 
10, 1976 and filed April 1, 1977 in Roll 61, Page 401.  The easement 
grants the right to construct electric transmission lines across of the N 
½ of the NW ¼ of Section 7, T89N, R46W of the 5th P.M., Woodbury County, 
Iowa.

All certified real estate taxes and special assessments due and payable 
have been paid.  Real estate taxes and special assessments not certified 
are a lien in an undetermined amount.

Dated:  June _____, 2023.

___________________________________
Joel D. Vos
ATTORNEY AT LAW

CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION NO. ___________________
RESOLUTION ACCEPTING AND APPROVING THE PLAT OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA.

WHEREAS, THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA, HAS RECOMMENDED THE 
ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL OF SAID PLAT.  NOW, THEREFORE BE, AND IT IS, RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA, THAT SAID PLAT OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, AS 
HERETO ATTACHED AND FORMING PART OF THIS RESOLUTION BE, AND THE SAME HEREBY IS, ACCEPTED AND 
APPROVED.

PASSED __________________________________

APPROVED ________________________________

_________________________________
ROBERT E. SCOTT
MAYOR

_________________________________
LISA McCARDLE
CITY CLERK

STATE OF IOWA     :
                   :   SS
COUNTY OF WOODBURY:

I, LISA McCARDLE, CLERK OF THE CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS 
A FULL, TRUE, AND CORRECT COPY OF A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING AND APPROVING THE PLAT OF TOWNLEY 
ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, WHICH SAID RESOLUTION WAS ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF SAID 
CITY ON THE _______ DAY OF ________________________, 2023 AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF SAID CITY 
ON SAID DATE ALL AS FULL, TRUE AND COMPLETE AS THE SAME APPEARS OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF SAID 
CITY CLERK.

DATED ________________________________

______________________________________
ROBERT E. SCOTT
MAYOR

______________________________________
LISA McCARDLE
CITY CLERK

INDIVIDUAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT

DEDICATION
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:

DONALD J. TOWNLEY, SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE OF THE DERRILL J. TOWNLEY REVOCABLE TRUST UNDER 
INSTRUMENT DATED APRIL 15, 2021, THE OWNER OF THE REAL ESTATE DESCRIBED IN THE ATTACHED 
SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE, HAS IN THE PURSUANCE OF LAW, CAUSED SAID DESCRIBED REAL ESTATE TO 
BE SURVEYED, STAKED AND PLATTED INTO LOTS, TOGETHER WITH AN INGRESS/EGRESS EASEMENT FOR 
THE BENEFIT OF ADJACENT PROPERTY, AS IS PARTICULARLY SHOWN AND SET FORTH IN THE ATTACHED 
PLAT AND SAID CERTIFICATE OF ALAN L. FAGAN, A LICENSED SURVEYOR WHO SURVEYED AND PLATTED 
THE REAL ESTATE TO BE KNOWN AS TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, AND THAT THE SAME 
IS PREPARED WITH THE FREE CONSENT AND ACCORDANCE WITH THE DESIRES AS OWNER AND PROPRIETOR 
THEREOF.

EXECUTED AT _______________________, IOWA, THE ___ DAY OF ________________, 2023.

___________________________________
DONALD J. TOWNLEY, IN HIS CAPACITY
AS TRUSTEE OF THE DERRILL J. TOWNLEY
REVOCABLE TRUST

STATE OF IOWA  :
                : SS
WOODBURY COUNTY:

ON THIS ______ DAY OF __________________, 2023, BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED, A NOTARY 
PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE STATE OF IOWA, PERSONALLY APPEARED DONALD J. TOWNLEY, IN HIS 
CAPACITY AS TRUSTEE OF THE DERRILL J. TOWNLEY REVOCABLE TRUST, TO ME KNOWN TO BE THE 
PERSON NAMED IN AND WHO EXECUTED THE FOREGOING INSTRUMENT, AND ACKNOWLEDGED THAT THEY 
EXECUTED THE SAME AS THEIR VOLUNTARY ACT AND DEED.

_____________________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC

RESOLUTION AND CERTIFICATE OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY
ZONING COMMISSION OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA
I, CHRIS ZELLMER ZANT, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I AM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE 
WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA AND DO FURTHER 
CERTIFY THAT SAID COMMISSION HAS HERETOFORE TAKEN UNDER ADVISEMENT THE 
PLAT OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, AND THAT SAID WOODBURY 
COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA DID ON THE ________DAY 
OF ____________________, 2023 APPROVE THE SAME AND DOES FURTHER HEREBY 
RECOMMEND TO THE WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, WOODBURY COUNTY, 
IOWA, THE ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL OF SAID PLAT.

DATED THIS   ________ DAY OF ___________________, 2023.

____________________________________________________
CHRIS ZELLMER ZANT
CHAIRMAN
WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION OF 
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA

COUNTY ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATE

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS' RESOLUTION
RESOLUTION NO. _______________________
RESOLUTION ACCEPTING AND APPROVING TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA.

WHEREAS, THE OWNERS AND PROPRIETORS DID ON THE ____ DAY OF _________________,
2023, FILE WITH THE WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION A CERTAIN PLAT DESIGNATED 
AS TOWNLEY ADDITION, WOODBURY COUNTY,  IOWA; AND

WHEREAS, IT APPEARS THAT SAID PLAT CONFORMS WITH ALL OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE 
CODE OF THE STATE OF IOWA AND ORDINANCES OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA, WITH 
REFERENCE TO THE FILING OF SAME; AND 

WHEREAS, THE ZONING COMMISSION OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA HAS RECOMMENDED THE 
ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL OF SAID PLAT; AND

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY ENGINEER OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA HAS RECOMMENDED THE 
ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL OF SAID PLAT.

NOW THEREFORE, BE, AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS, WOODBURY COUNTY, STATE OF IOWA, THAT THE PLAT OF TOWNLEY ADDITION, 
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA BE, AND THE SAME IS HEREBY ACCEPTED AND APPROVED, AND THE 
CHAIRMAN AND SECRETARY OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, WOODBURY 
COUNTY, STATE OF IOWA, ARE HEREBY DIRECTED TO FURNISH TO THE OWNERS AND 
PROPRIETORS A CERTIFIED COPY OF THIS RESOLUTION AS REQUIRED BY LAW.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _______ DAY OF ______________________________, 2023.

__________________________________
MATTHEW UNG
CHAIRMAN
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA

ATTEST: __________________________
        PATRICK F. GILL
        SECRETARY

TITLE OPINION

FINAL PLAT

WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA

A MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT 
OF

TOWNLEY ADDITION

AL FAGAN
LAND SURVEYING, P.C.

P.O. BOX 858
MERRILL, IA 51038

712 539-1471

DATE OF SURVEY:
MARCH 28, 2023

7



CED STAFF - REVIEW CRITERIA (SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE)
The County’s Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances require certain actions from County staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission. Per these requirements, 
CED staff: 

shall review a subdivision application for completeness and for approval of a final plat by ensuring it is submitted in accordance with the standards for a 
subdivision plat per Iowa Code. 

Staff reviewed the subdivision application, deemed it complete, and verified the final plat’s conformance to the County’s Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordi-
nance, and the Code of Iowa, all as required by law. 

shall accept payment of applicable fees, and distribute copies of the final plat to the Planning & Zoning Commission, the appropriate county depart-
ments and public utilities; and 
Staff received the application fee and the account is paid-in-full.  Staff also distributed copies of the application, final plat, and other materials to all relevant 
stakeholders as required. 

shall coordinate with the County Engineer who shall review the final plat to determine conformance with the engineering design standards of these regu-
lations and to verify accuracy of the legal descriptions and survey data; and 

Staff have received written confirmation that the County Engineer has reviewed and determined that te final plat conforms to the engineering and design standards 
of these regulations, and he has verified the accuracy of the legal descriptions and survey data. 

shall review the final plat to determine conformance with the design standards of these regulations and with the required form of the plat and related 
documents; and 

Staff verified that the final plat conforms to the design standards of these regulations, as well as the required form of the final plat. 

shall assure conformance with the goals and objectives of the County’s General Plan, the CED staff may make recommendations for conditions for ap-
proval including use restrictions required to preserve and improve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort, and convenience of the future residents of 
the subdivision and neighboring properties. 

Staff attest to the final plat conforming to the goals and objectives of the county plan.  Staff recommends approval of the final plat. 

ZONING COMMISSION - REVIEW CRITERIA (SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE) 
The County’s Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances require certain actions from County staff and the Planning and Zoning Commission. Per these requirements, 
the Planning and Zoning Commission: 

shall conduct a public hearing on a final plat for a minor subdivision. Notice of the date, time and location of the hearing will be mailed to the owners of all 
property within 1,000 feet for the subject property not less than four nor more than twenty days prior to the date of the hearing; and 

Staff have ensured that the legal requirements have been met for publicly noticing this public hearing, all as required by law. Staff have also ensured the notice 
requirement for adjacent landowners within 1000 FT have also been met.  

shall review the final plat and the staff reports and other information presented to determine whether the plat conforms to the ordinances, general plan 
and other policies of the county; and 

Staff have compiled, reviewed, and analyzed all relevant materials to determine whether the plat conforms to the ordinances, general plan, and other policies of the 
County, or not. Staff provided this information in a “Staff Report” format and made them available to the Commission well in advance of the required public hear-
ing. The Commission also held a public hearing to review, analyze, and discuss the final plat and other relevant information. 

may recommend specific conditions for approval including use restrictions required to preserve and improve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort, 
and convenience of the future residents of the subdivision and neighboring properties; and 

Staff does not recommend any specific conditions for this final plat. However, specific conditions (if any) may be recommended by the Commission. 

shall forward a report of its finding and a recommendation to the Board of Supervisors. The recommendation shall be in the form of a resolution to be 
certified as part of the final plat materials. A copy of the report and the resolution shall also be forwarded to the property owner, the subdivider and the 
land surveyor for the subdivision. 

During its required public hearing on the final plat, the Board of Supervisors will receive the final staff report and the Commission's recommendation on said plat 
and shall approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove the plat. The Supervisors may table the matter with the consent of the subdivider. Approval shall be in the 
form of a resolution to be certified as part of the final plat. Staff will coordinate with the subdivider and land surveyor to ensure all copies and recordings are sub-
mitted and received, all as required by law.  

8



EXTRATERRITORIAL REVIEW – RESOLUTION TO BE RECORDED SEPARATELY AS AN ATTACHMENT WITH THE FINAL PLAT 

9



LEGAL NOTIFICATION 

Published in the Sioux City Journal’s Legal Section on September 14, 2023.

PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION MAP 

Total Property Owners within 1000 FT via Certified 
Abstractor’s Listing: 

29 

Notification Letter Date: September 11, 2023 

Public Hearing Board: Zoning Commission 

Public Hearing Date: September 25, 2023 

Phone Inquiries: 1 

Written Inquiries: 0 

The names of the property owners are listed below.   

When more written comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting. 

Property Owner(s) Mailing Address Comments
Derrill J. Townley Revocable Trust 1414 110th St. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Small Family Farm LLC 4629 46th St. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Kevin & Jennifer Small Revocable Trust 1423 110th St. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Brittany & Thomas Sickels 1091 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Jason D. & Amber L. Hansen 1093 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
David M. & Brooke A. Hegarty 1095 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Craig J. & Stacy Sue Phillips 1097 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Kevin J. & Mary Jo Kirwan 1099 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Randy W. Bradley & Lavone M. Sopher 
Bradley 1088 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108

No comments. 

Melissa E. Tjeerdsma Trust 1090 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Richard J. & Renee M. Niles 1092 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Richard & Katherine Saunders 1094 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Cole A. & Lah L. Knapp 1096 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Emerick L. Dominowski & Jessica Jones-
Sitzmann 1098 Pachsama Ct. Sioux City IA 51108

No comments. 

Gregory M. & Lori L. Breyfogle 1085 Benton Ave. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Jan J. & Doris A. George 1087 Benton Ave. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Kelly J. Ridgway & Famela J. Ridgway 1089 Benton Ave. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Anthony J. & Jenaya D. Vondrak 1446 110th St. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Mark W. Zenk 1152 Barker Ave. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Hunter A. Rockman 1176 Barker Ave. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Justine B. Barkley 1140 Barker Ave. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Edwin O. Niemeyer Revocable Trust 4250 Fremar Dr. Sioux City IA 51104 No comments. 
Edward & Maria Townley 1418 110th St. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Raymond L. Richtermeier & Donna P. 
Richtermeier 5647 46th St. Sioux City IA 51108

No comments. 

Grant A. Mears & Pamel J. Mears 5701 46th St. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Terry R. & Bertha M. Cowan Revocable 
Trust 17305 West Imperian Lane Surprise AZ 85387

No comments. 

City of Sioux City Real Estate Dept. PO Box 447, 405 6th St. Sioux City IA
51102-
0447

No comments. 

Michael J. Barkley & Mary E. Barkley 5701 41st ST. Sioux City IA 51108 No comments. 
Mosher Landscaping PO Box 1311 Sioux City IA 51102 No comments. 

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS 
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments. 
FIBERCOMM: No comments. 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (IDNR): No comments. No comments. 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): No comments.
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments. 
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments. 
LONGLINES: No comments. 
LUMEN: No comments. 
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical Division): I have reviewed the following proposed minor subdivision for MEC electric and we have no 

conflicts. – Casey Meinen, 8/31/23. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No comments. 

10



NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES 
(NRCS):

No comments. 

NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments. 
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): Have reviewed this zoning request.  NIPCO has no issues with this request. – Jeff Zettel, 8/31/23. 
NUSTAR PIPELINE: No comments. 
SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: No comments. 
WIATEL: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: SEE REVIEW MEMO BELOW. 
WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC 
COOPERATIVE (REC):

No comments. 

WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT:

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this proposal. – Neil Stockfleth, 8/29/23. 

Special Note: 

Following the County 
Engineer’s comments, the 
applicant(s) have prepared an 
easement to be recorded.  A 
copy of the easement is 
available in this packet in the 
subsequent pages. 

11



PRELIMINARY DRAWING 

12



EASEMENT FOR INGRESS / EGRESS

13



14



15



16



17



PARCEL REPORT 

18



19



ZONING MAP 

20



EFFECTIVE FLOODPLAIN MAP 

21



DRAFT FLOODPLAIN MAP 

ELEVATION MAP 

22



SOIL MAP 

SOIL REPORT 

23



WOODBURY COUNTY COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT (PLANNING AND ZONING)
Address: 620 Douglas Street – Sixth Floor, Sioux City, IA 51101 | Phone: 712-279-6609 | Fax: 712-279-6530 | Web: woodburycountyiowa.gov

Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator: dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov
Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk: dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov

PRELIMINARY REPORT – SEPTEMBER 20, 2023

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REQUEST

Application Details Property Details Contents

Applicant(s)/Owner(s): AMG Technology 
Investment Group DBA 
Nextlink / Shelle Baldwin

Application Type: Conditional Use

Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation

Total Acres: 40

Current Use: Agriculture

Proposed Use: Telecommunication 
Tower

Pre-application Meeting: May 4, 2023

Application Date: August 29, 2023 

Legal Notice Date: September 14, 2023

Neighbor(s) Notice Date: September 13, 2023

Stakeholder(s) Notice 
Date:

September 1, 2023

Board of Adjustment 
Public Hearing Date:

October 2, 2023

Parcel #: 874316300005

Township/Range: T87N R43W (Miller)

Section: 16

Quarter: SE ¼ SW ¼ 

Zoning District: Agricultural Preservation

Floodplain District: Zone X (Not in 
Floodplain)

Address: 3846 245th St., Anton, IA 
51004

Summary, Location Aerial, Site Plan Excerpt, 
Recommendation, & Suggested Motion

Legal Notification

Neighbor(s) Notification

Stakeholder(s) Comments

Review Criteria / Applicant Responses

Application

Supporting Documentation

SUMMARY

AMG Technology Investment Group DBA Nextlink have filed a conditional use permit application to request to install a 120 FT monopole communication tower to supply 
high speed internet to surrounding areas on the property designated as Parcel #874316300005.  The proposed location is around 2.5 miles south of Anthon and about 4.2 
miles northeast of Oto.  This proposal has been noticed in the Sioux City Journals legal section on September 14, 2023.  The neighbors within one (1) mile were duly notified 
via a September 13, 2023 letter about the October 2, 2023 Board of Adjustment public hearing.  Appropriate stakeholders including government agencies, utilities, and 
organizations have been requested to comment.  This property is located in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  Based on the information received and the 
requirements set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, the proposal meets the appropriate criteria for approval of the conditional use request.  It is the recommendation of staff to 
approve the proposal.

LOCATION / AERIAL VIEW SITE PLAN EXCERPT

STAFF RECOMMENDATION & SUGGESTED MOTION

Staff recommends approval of the proposal.  Suggested Motion: motion to recommend approval of the construction and use of the communication tower on the property 
identified as Parcel #874316300005 to the Board of Adjustment.

24



LEGAL NOTIFICATION

Published in the Sioux City Journal’s Legal Section on September 14, 2023

PROPERTY OWNER(S) NOTIFICATION MAP

Total Property Owners within 500 FT via Certified 
Abstractor’s Listing:

33

Notification Letter Date: September 13, 2023

Public Meeting for Review: September 25, 2023 (Zoning Commission)

Public Hearing Board: Board of Adjustment

Public Hearing Date: October 2, 2023

Phone Inquiries: 0

Written Inquiries: 0

The names of the property owners are listed below.  

When more comments are received after the printing of this packet, they will be provided at the meeting.

Property Owner(s) Mailing Address Comments
Alta Patterson Trust 36 Eastview Dr Apt 

315
 Sioux City IA 51106 No comments.

Amanda Marie Wodtke / 
Brooke Lynn Wodtke / Marcus 
James Wodtke Michael Aaron 
Wodtke / Samantha Lea 
Wodtke

1106 Ridgewood Dr  Huxley IA 50124 No comments.

Andrew J. Rosauer 3954 250th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.
Baldwin Properties LLC 2406 Mason Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.
Bernard F. Ketelsen & Barbara 
L. Ketelsen

3812 250th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Brett N. Baldwin & Jody A. 
Baldwin

2406 Mason Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

CICS Investments LLC 2075 NE 126th Ave  Alleman IA 50007 No comments.
David L. Bumsted & Karen K. 
Bumsted Trust

418 N Crawford Rd  Vermillion SD 57069 No comments.

Dennis J. Walling 407 S 3rd Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.
Dennis J. Walling & Julie A. 
Walling

407 S 3rd Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Dorothy E. Parker Le Rem 2 Sunrise Ave Apt C  Mapleton IA 51034 No comments.
Dorothy Parker 2 Sunrise Ave Apt C  Mapleton IA 51034 No comments.
Douglas E. Spies Revocable 
Living Trust

2520 Morgan Trl  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Frank Fundermann & Carol 
Fundermann Joint Revocable 
Trust

1693 260th St  Red Oak IA 51566 No comments.

Fundermann Family Farms 
LLC

604 6th St  Battle Creek IA 51006 No comments.

Gary E. Bumsted & Eileen G. 
Bumsted Revocable Trust

5436 Stone Ave  Sioux City IA 51106 No comments.

Henry Patterson c/o Rose 
Patterson 

36 Eastview Dr Apt 
315

Sioux City IA 51106 No comments.

John Dixon & Linda Dixon 2417 Morgan Trl  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.
Joint Declaration of Trust 21024 Leesa Ln  Kearney M

O
64060 No comments.

Lavern W. Botcher & Alice E. 
Botcher

702 North Walnut  Avoca IA 51521 No comments.

Mark Baldwin & Shelle 
Baldwin

2439 Mason Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Mark D. Baldwin & Shelle J. 
Baldwin

3846 245th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Mary R. Hayworth N/A - 
Undeliverable/Mail 
Returned

No comments.

Meyer Family Farm LLC PO Box 214  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

25



Michael R. Drea & Donna C. 
Drea 

139 Golden Dr  Sergeant 
Bluff 

IA 51054 No comments.

Parker Land & Cattle Inc 2314 Kossuth Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.
Paul A. Rosauer 2581 Mason Ave  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.
Paul H. Ludwig & Barbara K. 
Ludwig 

301 2nd Ave S  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Phillip E. Hayworth & Stella 
M. Hayworth 

3818 245th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Richard W. Enockson & Judith 
A. Enockson 

187 Brookline Trail  Dakota 
Dunes 

SD 57049 No comments.

Robert J. Fundermann & 
Angela J. Fundermann 

3805 245th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

Susan Ristuben Asher Trust 3106 E Mores Trail 
St 

 Meridian ID 83642 No comments.

Wayne C. Funderman 
Revocable Living Trust 

3780 245th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

William A. Fleck & Judy M. 
Fleck 

3798 240th St  Anthon IA 51004 No comments.

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS 
911 COMMUNICATIONS CENTER: No comments. 
FIBERCOMM: No comments. 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (IDNR): No comments. 
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT): No comments.
LOESS HILLS NATIONAL SCENIC BYWAY: No comments. 
LOESS HILLS PROGRAM: No comments. 
LONGLINES: No comments. 
LUMEN: No comments. No comments. 
MAGELLAN PIPELINE: No comments. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Electrical Division): I have reviewed the following requested conditional use permit for MEC electric and we have no 

conflicts. – Casey Meinen, 9/1/23. 
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY (Gas Division): No conflicts for MEC Gas. – Tyler Ahlquist, 9/5/23. 
NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICES 
(NRCS):

No comments. 

NORTHERN NATURAL GAS: No comments. 
NORTHWEST IOWA POWER COOPERATIVE (NIPCO): Have reviewed this zoning request.  NIPCO has no issues with this request. – Jeff Zettel, 9/5/23. 
NUSTAR PIPELINE: No comments. 
SIOUXLAND DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT: No comments. 
WIATEL: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY ASSESSOR: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY CONSERVATION: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES: No comments. 
WOODBURY COUNTY ENGINEER: I have no concerns with this proposed conditional use.   Existing driveways are proposed for use, as 

best as I was able to determine.    If dedicated access is needed, the owner will need to contact my 
department for a driveway permit. – Mark Nahra, 9/1/23. 

WOODBURY COUNTY RECORDER: No comments. – Diane Swoboda Peterson, 9/5/23. 
WOODBURY COUNTY RURAL ELECTRIC 
COOPERATIVE (REC):

No comments. 

WOODBURY COUNTY SOIL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT:

The WCSWCD has no comments regarding this conditional use permit. – Neil Stockfleth, 9/6/23. 

26



REVIEW REQUIREMENTS - IOWA CODE SECTION 8C.3 (https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/code/8c.pdf )

LOCAL GOVERNMENTS CANNOT:

In order to ensure uniformity across this state with respect to the consideration of every application, and notwithstanding any other provision to the 
contrary, an authority shall not do any of the following:

1. Require an applicant to submit information about, or evaluate an applicant’s business decisions with respect to, the applicant’s designed service, customer 
demand for service, or quality of the applicant’s service to or from a particular area or site, but may require propagation maps solely for the purpose of identify-
ing the location of the coverage or capacity gap or need for applications for new towers in an area zoned residential.

2. a. Evaluate an application based on the availability of other potential locations for the placement or construction of a tower or transmission equipment. b. 
Require the applicant to establish other options for collocation instead of the construction of a new tower or modification of an existing tower or existing base 
station that constitutes a substantial change to an existing tower or existing base station. c. Notwithstanding paragraph “b”, an authority shall require an applicant 
applying for the construction of a new tower to provide an explanation regarding the reason for choosing the proposed location and the reason the applicant did 
not choose collocation. The explanation shall include a sworn statement from an individual who has responsibility over placement of the tower attesting that 
collocation within the area determined by the applicant to meet the applicant’s radio frequency engineering requirements for the placement of a site would not 
result in the same mobile service functionality, coverage, and capacity, is technically infeasible, or is economically burdensome to the applicant.

3. Dictate the type of transmission equipment or technology to be used by the applicant or discriminate between different types of infrastructure or technology.

4. a. Require the removal of existing towers, base stations, or transmission equipment, wherever located, as a condition to approval of an application. b. Notwith-
standing paragraph “a”, the authority may adopt reasonable rules regarding removal of abandoned towers or transmission equipment.

5. Impose environmental testing, sampling, or monitoring requirements, or other compliance measures, for radio frequency emissions from transmission equip-
ment that are categorically excluded under the federal communications commission’s rules for radio frequency emissions pursuant to 47 C.F.R. §1.1307(b)(1).

6. Establish or enforce regulations or procedures for radio frequency signal strength or the adequacy of service quality.

7. Reject an application, in whole or in part, based on perceived or alleged environmental effects of radio frequency emissions, as provided in 47 U.S.C. 
§332(c)(7)(B)(iv).

8. Prohibit the placement of emergency power systems that comply with federal and state environmental requirements.

9. Charge an application fee, consulting fee, or other fee associated with the submission, review, processing, or approval of an application, unless the fee charged 
is in compliance with this section. Fees imposed by an authority or by a third-party entity providing review or technical consultation to the authority shall be 
based on actual, direct, and reasonable administrative costs incurred for the review, processing, and approval of an application. In no case shall total charges and 
fees exceed five hundred dollars for an eligible facilities request or three thousand dollars for an application for a new tower, for the initial placement or installa-
tion of transmission equipment on a wireless support structure, for a modification of an existing tower or existing base station that constitutes a substantial 
change to an existing tower or base station, or any other application to construct or place transmission equipment that does not constitute an eligible facilities 
request. An authority or any third-party entity shall not include within its charges any travel expenses incurred in the review of an application for more than one 
trip to the authority’s jurisdiction, and an applicant shall not be required to pay or reimburse an authority for consultant or other third-party fees based on a con-
tingency-based or result-based arrangement.

10. Impose surety requirements, including bonds, escrow deposits, letters of credit, or any other type of financial surety, to ensure that abandoned or unused 
towers or transmission equipment can be removed, unless requirements are competitively neutral, nondiscriminatory, reasonable in amount, and commensurate 
with the historical record for local facilities and structures that are abandoned.

11. Condition the approval of an application on the applicant’s agreement to provide space on or near the tower, base station, or wireless support structure for 
authority or local governmental or nongovernmental services at less than the market rate for such space or to provide other services via the structure or facilities 
at less than the market rate for such services.

12. Limit the duration of the approval of an application, except that construction of the approved structure or facilities shall be commenced within two years of 
final approval, including the disposition of any appeals, and diligently pursued to completion.

13. Discriminate on the basis of the ownership, including ownership by the authority, of any property, structure, or tower when promulgating rules or procedures 
for siting wireless facilities or for evaluating applications.

ZONING ORDINANCE CRITERIA FOR BOARD APPROVAL

Conditional Use Permits are determined by a review of the following criteria by the Zoning Commission (ZC) and Board of Adjustment (BOA).  The ZC makes a 
recommendation to the BOA which will decide following a public hearing before the Board.

APPLICANT’S DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE:

Nextlink would like the approval to install a new 120’ galvanized steel mono pole to provide high speed internet to surrounding areas.

CRITERIA 1:

The conditional use requested is authorized as a conditional use in the zoning district within which the property is located and that any specific conditions or standards 
described as part of that authorization have been or will be satisfied (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9).

Applicant Response:

The conditional use is for commercial/telecommunication in a AP zoned area.  All standards described will be satisfied by our team and crew.

Staff Analysis:

This conditional use permit requested is authorized in the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District.  This request will satisfy any and all requirements as per the Zoning Ordinance.

27



CRITERIA 2: 

The proposed use and development will be in harmony with the general purpose and intent of this ordinance and the goals, objectives and standards of the general plan 
(Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Applicant Response:

Nextlink takes pride in its process of putting towers up in a timely fashion and we hold crews to high standards to complete each process thoroughly. 

Staff Analysis:

The granting of this request will assist with adding to the communication infrastructure of the surrounding area, it complies with the general purpose of the general plan. 

CRITERIA 3: 

The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue adverse effect upon adjacent property, the character of the neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, 
utility facilities, and other factors affecting the public health, safety and general welfare (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Applicant Response:

The location that we are looking at installing this tower at, on the property, is towards the middle of the property itself.  This will not have a substantial adverse effect on 
adjacent properties.  It will not affect the character of the neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, utility facilities, or any other factors affecting public health, safety, and 
general welfare.  The outcome of this project is to provide high speed internet to the surrounding areas, but to do it in a safe and efficient manner. 

Staff Analysis:

The plans submitted comply with the parameters of Section 5.05 of the Zoning Ordinance.  This proposal does not appear to adversely impact the neighborhood, traffic, 
parking, utility facilities, public health, safety and general welfare.  The proposed tower meets the setbacks from the property lines with either meeting or exceeding 120 feet 
from the property lines (see site plan).   

CRITERIA 4: 

The proposed use and development will be located, designed, constructed and operated in such a manner that it will be compatible with the immediate neighborhood and 
will not interfere with the orderly use, development and improvement of surrounding property (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Applicant Response:

The proposed development will be towards the middle of the Baldwin’s property.  Our crews tend to work fast, when they obtain the green light from permitting and have 
obtained the permission to move forward with the project.  This will be compatible with the immediate neighborhood and will not interfere with the orderly use, development 
and improvement of surrounding property.  It adds to the surrounding area by providing internet to the individuals who live around this property.   

Staff Analysis:

The plans submitted comply with the parameters of Section 5.05 of the Zoning Ordinance.  This proposal is compatible with  the neighborhood as noted in Criteria 3.   

CRITERIA 5: 

Essential public facilities and services will adequately serve the proposed use or development (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Applicant Response:

N/A: We will not need the use of essential public facilities and services. 

Staff Analysis:

The plans submitted comply with the Zoning Ordinance. 

CRITERIA 6: 

The proposed use or development will not result in unnecessary adverse effects upon any significant natural, scenic or historic features of the subject property or adjacent 
properties (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Applicant Response:

This location is not located in any historical district, nor will it result in unnecessary adverse effects on the natural features around it due to its location. 

Staff Analysis:

The plans submitted comply with the Zoning Ordinance.  There have been no concerns presented from stakeholders. 

OTHER CONSIDERATION 1: 

The proposed use or development, at the particular location is necessary or desirable to provide a service or facility that is in the public interest or will contribute to the 
general welfare of the neighborhood or community (Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Staff Analysis:

This CUP request could be interpreted as a contribution to the local communication infrastructure. 

OTHER CONSIDERATION 2: 

All possible efforts, including building and site design, landscaping and screening have been undertaken to minimize any adverse effects of the proposed use or development 
(Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, Sec. 2.02-9). 

Staff Analysis:

The design of the tower and its proposed use clearly distinguishes itself as a communication structure.  The plans submitted comply with the Zoning Ordinance.  Under Iowa 
Code 8C, local governments cannot “dictate the type of transmission equipment or technology to be used, or discriminate between different types of infrastructure or 
technology.” 

28



LOCATION MAPPING (SITE PLAN) 

29



APPLICATION 

30



31



32



33



PLANS 

34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



FOUNDATION DRAWING 

50



STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS 

51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



AFFADAVIT 

61



SIM PHOTOS 

62



63



TOWAIR DETERMINATION 

64



FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION NOTICE CRITERIA TOOL 

65



66



PARCEL REPORT 

ZONING MAP 

67



ELEVATION MAP 

SOIL MAP 

SOIL REPORT 

68



ZONING COMMISSION 
Preparation for a Recommendation to the Board of Supervisors 

Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems (US-SES)

CONTENTS 

The subsequent pages include the following contents: 

 Summary 

 Requested Proposal 

 Comments / Information Received from the Public since the September 11, 2023 Public Hearing 

 Public Hearing Discussion Outline  
o Discussion Topics 

1. Citizen Concerns 
2. Appropriate Locations 
3. Ordinance Types 
4. Process Types 
5. Information Collection 
6. Requirements for Permitting of US-SES 
7. Definitions 
8. Commissioner Concerns 

 Detailed Public Hearing Discussion Outline 

 Considerations for an Ordinance Amendment with Data 

69



Summary: 
- The Woodbury County Zoning Commission has been directed by the Board of Supervisors on August 8, 2023 to 

establish/examine a new ordinance as it relates to utility-scale solar systems.  The purpose of this public hearing is to receive 
comments from the public about solar energy systems not limited to utility-scale solar systems, agrisolar or agrivoltaics, and 
community solar systems as the Commission works toward preparing a recommendation for a proposed ordinance or 
amendments to the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance to address the permitting process for such systems in industrial and/or 
agricultural areas.   

- The Zoning Commission held their first public hearing at the Moville Area Community Center on September 11, 2023.  At that 
meeting there were over 30 members of the public in attendance with 13 offering concerns about a potential utility-scale solar 
proposal.   

Requested Proposal:

- The Board of Supervisors have indicated that “if the county was to engage in utility-scale solar, at minimum, the county should 
consider this only if the following is met”: 

o A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to be able to site-specifically 
take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/soil, and other factors when approving permit. 

o A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land 
stewardship. 

o A maximum height of no more than 20’ for panel structures. 

o Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or no longer 
considered “AP.” 

o Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% of AP.  This equates to 
approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 570,000 total acres in 
Woodbury County. 

o Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet. 

o A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner’s property or 
that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

70



UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (US-SES) 

COMMENTS / INFORMATION RECEIVED FROM THE PUBLIC 

SINCE THE ZONING COMMISSION SEPTEMBER 11, 2023 PUBLIC HEARING 

71



RECEIVED FROM LEO JOCHUM – SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 

Topic: CSR vs. CSR2 

72



73



74



WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING COMMISSION 
Preparation for a Recommendation to the Board of Supervisors 

Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems (US-SES)

Public Hearing Topics for Consideration 

Content Provided Herein is for Discussion/Informational Purposes and is Subject to Changes. 

PUBLIC HEARING DISCUSSION OUTLINE 

1. TOPIC 1: Citizen Concerns  

2. TOPIC 2: Appropriate Location(s) 
a. Zoning Districts 
b. Considerations 

i. Zoning District(s) 
ii. Corn Suitability Rating 1 vs. 2 

iii. Agricultural Related Use 
iv. Slope Cap 
v. Acre Cap 

vi. Height Cap 
vii. Density 

viii. Notification Area 
ix. Site Considerations 
x. Property Ownership 

c. Other / Additional 

3. TOPIC 3: Ordinance Type (Standalone vs. Zoning Ordinance Amendment) 
a. Standalone Ordinance 
b. Ordinance Amendment 
c. Other / Additional 

4. TOPIC 4: Process Types
a. Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment (Rezone) 

i. Regular Process 
ii. General Industrial (GI) 

iii. Overlay District? 
b. Conditional Use Permit 

i. Regular Process 
ii. Added Ordinance Requirements 

iii. Other / Additional 

5. TOPIC 5: Information Collection (Application Requirements)
a. Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment (Rezone) 
b. Conditional use Permit Application Procedures 
c. Certified Abstractor’s Listing 
d. General Information 
e. Mapping 
f. Documentation 
g. Requirements for Development Plans / Site Plans 
h. Other / Additional 

6. TOPIC 6: Requirements for Permitting of US-SES
a. Separation Distances / Setbacks / by Zoning District 
b. Screening 

75



c. Fencing / Security 
d. Signage 
e. Lighting 
f. Noise 
g. Glare Minimization 
h. Utility Connections 
i. Accessory Structures 
j. Outdoor Storage 
k. Endangered Species and Wetlands 
l. Weed Control 
m. Slope 
n. Waste 
o. Maintenance, Repair, or Replacement 
p. Cessation of Operations 
q. Repowering 
r. Decommissioning 
s. Cleaning Chemicals and Solvents 
t. Road Use Agreements 
u. Special Flood Hazard Area (Floodplain) 
v. Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 
w. Storm Water Management 
x. Compliance with Local, State, and Federal Regulations 
y. Transfer 
z. Administration and Enforcement 
aa. Fee Structure 
bb. Other / Additional  

7. TOPIC 7: Definitions
Agreement Non-participating Landowner Solar Energy Systems, Private
Agrisolar or Agrivoltaics Occupied Structure Solar Energy Systems, Utility 

Scale (US-SES)
Applicant Operator Solar Panel
Community Solar Owner Solar Storage Battery
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) Participating Landowner Solar Storage Unit
Concentrating Solar Power 
Systems

Photovoltaic (PV) Cells Solar Thermal Energy System 
(STES)

Corn Suitability Rating 2 (CSR2) Professional Engineer Structure
Critical Slope Angle Project Area Structure-Mounted Energy 

System
Developed Project Areas Property Line Substation
Easement Residence System Height
Feeder Circuits / Lines Setback - Other Additional -
Glare/Glint Slope
Grounded-Mounted System Solar Array
Interconnection Solar Collector
Module Solar Easement
Mounting Solar Energy

- These definitions are being presented for discussion and informational purposes only and is subject to changes 
including additions, deletions, or modifications.   

8. TOPIC 8: Commissioner Concerns 

76



ZONING COMMISSION 
Preparation for a Recommendation to the Board of Supervisors 

Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems (US-SES)

DETAILED OUTLINE 

Public Hearing Topics for Consideration 

Content Provided Herein is for Discussion/Informational Purposes and is Subject to Changes.

1. APPROPRIATE LOCATION(S)
a. Zoning District(s) 

i. General Industrial (GI) 
1. 11,221 total acres* 

ii. Agricultural Preservation (AP) 
1. 476,513 total acres* 

iii. Limited Industrial (LI) 
1. 101 total acres*  *includes acres already developed. 

iv. Possible Creation of a “Utility-Scale Solar Overlay District” to be placed over portions of AP, per 
rezone application.? 

b. Considerations:  
i. Zoning District(s) 

ii. Corn Suitability Rating 1 / Corn Suitability Rating 2 
1. Under 65 CSR (Woodbury County Development Plan) 
2. CSR1/2 Resources: 

a. https://crops.extension.iastate.edu/cropnews/2015/04/corn-suitability-rating-2-equation-
updated

b. https://www.fbn.com/community/blog/iowa-corn-suitability-rating-index-
csr2#:~:text=The%20range%20of%20CSR2%20is,and%20it%20is%20not%20irrigated. 

c. https://support.agridatainc.com/CornSuitabilityRating2(CSR2).ashx
d. http://www.extension.iastate.edu/Publications/PM1168.pdf
e. http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/HomePage.htm

iii. Agricultural Related Use (51%) 
1. Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural 

production or no longer considered “AP.” 
iv. Slope Cap 

1. A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, 
compaction, and future land stewardship. 

2. No greater than 5% soil slopes. 
v. Acre Cap 

1. Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% 
of AP.  This equates to approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land 
constituting 75% of the 570,000 total acres in Woodbury County. 

2. Agricultural Preservation (AP) 
a. 2% Cap = 9,530 acres 

3. General Industrial (GI) 
a. No cap 

vi. Height Cap 
1. 20 FT? 

vii. Density 
1. Separation Distances / Setbacks / By Zoning District 

a. Occupied Residence 
b. Occupied Structures  
c. Non-participating Parcels 
d. Public Right-of-Way 
e. Airports 
f. Etc. 

77



viii. Notification Area 
1. Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 

feet. 
ix. Site Considerations 

1. A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to 
be able to site-specifically take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/sol, and 
other factors when approving permit. 

x. Property Ownership 
1. A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be 

on a landowner’s property or that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

2. ORDINANCE TYPE (STANDALONE VS. ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT)

a. Standalone Ordinance 
i. Similar to the Commercial Wind Energy Conversion Systems Ordinance 

1. Permits considered by the Board of Supervisors 
2. No use of Zoning Districts 

b. Zoning Ordinance Amendment 
i. Conditional Use Process 

1. Zoning Commission Application Review for Recommendation 
2. Board of Adjustment Consideration for Approval 

ii. Rezone to a different zoning district or overlay district 
1. Zoning Commission Application Review for Recommendation 
2. Board of Supervisors Consideration for Approval 

iii. Zoning Districts are used to determine appropriate areas of the county to consider permits. 

3. PROCESS TYPES

a. Zoning Ordinance Map Amendment (Rezone) 
i. General Industrial (GI) 

ii. Overlay District?  Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems Overlay District? 
1. Appropriateness of the Area Based on Considerations referenced in Section 1. 

iii. Zoning Commission / Board of Supervisors 
b. Conditional Use Permit 

i. Regular Process 
ii. Added Ordinance Requirements 

4. INFORMATION COLLECTION (APPLICATION)

a. Conditional Use Permit Application Procedures (Zoning Ordinance Section 2.02.9) 
b. Certified Abstractor’s Listing (1 Mile?) 
c. General Information 

i. Name of Applicant(s), Project Owner(s), and/or Operator(s), Landowner(s) – Contact Information 
ii. Project Summary 

iii. General Description 
iv. Number of Modules 
v. Manufacturer 

vi. Model 
vii. Mounting Type 

viii. System Height 
ix. System Capacity 
x. Total Land Area covered by the system. 

xi. Information about facilities 
1. Substations 
2. Feeder lines 
3. Battery Storage 
4. Etc. 

d. Map of the Project Location and Surrounding Area 
e. Legal Description of the Property with the US-SES will be located 

78



f. Evidence of a power purchase agreement or interconnection application for the project 
g. Consultation with or notifications from relevant state and federal agencies 

i. Demonstrating how the project will not be a hazard to: 
1. Wildlife 
2. Communications 
3. Air Traffic 
4. Etc. 

h. Documentation of easement locations acquired for US-SES and associated facilities 
i. Project Plan 

i. Based on a plat of survey by an Iowa licensed surveyor to establish property lines and/or setbacks.  
Project plan shall include: 

1. Parcel lines;  
2. All existing structures, with dimensions (length, width, & height clearly marked); 
3. Sanitary Infrastructure (e.g. Septic Fields); 
4. Presence of wells, capped and otherwise functional; 
5. Setback Measurements; 
6. Easements present on the property, including those for existing utilities; 
7. Field tile locations with mapping; 
8. Floodplain Locations; 
9. Topography Lines (with 2-foot contours); 
10. Location of all solar panels, solar collectors, solar arrays, and associated equipment (with 

dimensions); 
11. The height and depths of each mounting structure including footings, and maximum area of 

ground cover.  Include dimensions (length, width, & height clearly marked) and ground 
clearance for each US-SES; 

12. A detailed electrical grid drawing, certified by an electrical engineer, showing all connection 
points in the US-SES and to a connecting electrical grid.  Include utility lines, telephone 
lines and other lines, both above and below ground within 200 feet of any and all above-
ground portions of the US-SES; 

13. Standard drawings and dimensional representatives of the solar energy system including 
panels and arrays, mounting structures, and footings. 

14. Color photo simulations showing the proposed location of the tower with a photo-realistic 
representation of the proposed US-SES as it would appear viewed form the nearest 
residentially used and / or zoned property and nearest roadway, street or highway.   

15. Planned location and dimensions of security fencing; 
16. A grading plan with 2-foot contours showing existing and proposed topography. 
17. A storm water management plan showing retention/detention areas, storm sewers and 

drainage ways.  A drainage report certified by a professional engineer is required to verify 
the size of retention or detention facilities and outflows from the site.  Any flood hazard 
areas should be identified. 

18. A landscaping plan illustrating screening and buffering intended to minimize conflicts with 
nearby properties and uses.  Species, numbers and initial sizes of plan materials should be 
indicated.   

19. A soil analysis illustrating the soil types, slopes and Corn Suitability Rating 2 (CSR2) for the 
entire footprint of the project area.   

20. Any other information necessary to describe the intended use. 

5. REQUIREMENTS

a. Separation Distances / Setbacks / By Zoning District 
i. Occupied Residence 

ii. Occupied Structures  
iii. Non-participating Parcels 
iv. Public Right-of-Way 
v. Airports 

vi. Etc. 
b. Screening 

79



i. Adequate safeguards shall be taken to fence or screen any on-site hazards from the public.  A 
landscape buffer may be required to be installed and maintained.  The need for screening 
requirements will be evaluated as part of the review by Staff and the approval process and will be 
based on the surroundings of the site. 

c. Fencing / Security 
i. A security fence must be installed along all exterior sides of the US-SES installation and be equipped 

with a minimum of one gate and locking mechanism on the primary access side.  Security fences, 
gates and warning signs must be maintained in good condition until the US-SES solar installation is 
decommissioned.   

d. Signage 
i. No signs other than appropriate warning signs, or standard signs for operation or identification, shall 

be allowed.  
e. Lighting 

i. Lighting shall be shielded and downcast such that the light does not project directly onto the adjent 
properties.   

f. Noise 
i. Noise levels caused by the US-SES measured at the residence(s) shall not exceed fifty (50) decibels 

(A-weighted) when located adjacent to an existing residence or residential district. 
g. Glare Minimization 

i. The US-SES shall be designed and constructed to diminish glare or reflection onto adjacent 
properties and adjacent roadways and must not interfere with traffic, including air traffic, or crate a 
safety hazard. 

h. Utility Connections 
i. Reasonable efforts shall be made to place all project collection lines within the solar installation 

underground, depending on appropriate soil conditions, shape and topography of the site, distance to 
the connection, or other conditions or requirements.  High-voltage lines between the US-SES and 
substations may be above ground.   

i. Accessory Structures 
i. All accessory structures shall be subject to the bulk and height regulations of structures in the 

underlying zoning district, unless specified differently in the ordinance. 
j. Outdoor Storage 

i. Only the outdoor storage of materials, vehicles, and equipment that directly support the operation 
and maintenance of the US-SES shall be allowed. 

k. Endangered Species and Wetlands 
i. Applicant(s) shall consult with the Iowa Department of Natural Resources and provided verification 

to the Zoning Director or their designee.   
l. Weed Control 

i. Applicant(s) must present an acceptable weed/grass control plan for property outside of the fenced 
area for the entire project.  The operating company during the operation of the Solar Farm must 
maintain the fence and adhere to a weed control plan.   

m. Slope 
i. Slope length and steepness influence both the volume and velocity of surface runoff.  Long slopes 

produce more runoff to the bottom of slopes.  Steep slopes increase runoff velocity.  Both situations 
increase the potential for erosion.  The project area shall not exceed medium erosion potential 
including eight (5%) percent or greater slope.   

n. Waste 
i. All solid wastes, whether generated from supplies, equipment parts, packaging, operation, grazed 

animals, farming operation or maintenance of the US-SES shall be removed from the site and 
disposed of in an appropriate manner.  All hazardous waste generated by the operation shall be 
removed from the site immediately and disposed of in a manner consistent with all local, state, and 
federal guidelines.   

o. Maintenance, Repair, or Replacement 
i. Maintenance shall include, but not limited to painting, structural repairs, integrity of security 

measures.  Site access shall be maintained to a level acceptable to emergency response officials.  
Any retrofit, replacement or refurbishment of equipment shall adhere to all applicable local, state and 
federal requirements.  Any discarded materials or construction debris will be prompley removed in a 
timely manner.  Said debris shall remain on the property no longer than sixty (60) days. 

p. Cessation 
80



i. Any US-SES provided for in this Ordinance that has not been in operation and producing electricity 
for at least one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive days, excluding natural catastrophic event, 
shall be removed.  The Woodbury County Zoning Director or their designee shall notify the owner to 
remove the system.  Within ninety (90) days, the owner shall either submit evidence showing that the 
system has been operating and producing electricity or remove it.  IF the owner fails to or refuses to 
remove the US-SES, the violation shall be referred to the Woodbury County Attorney.  In the case of 
a natural catastrophic event, a detailed restoration plan to return to operational status must be 
provided to the Zoning Director.   

q. Repowering 
i. Proposals to replace more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the panels in a facility within a twelve 

(12) month period shall be required to submit a Conditional Use Permit Application for review and 
approval with all associated costs assigned to the Applicant and/or the property owner(s). 

r. Decommissioning 
i. The US-SES’s owner shall enter into a decommissioning agreement with Woodbury County prior to 

the start of construction of the US-SES project.  Woodbury County’s approval and execution of the 
agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The plan shall include: 

1. A description of the plan to remove the US-SES’s equipment, or at landowner’s request, to 
restore the land to its previous use upon the end of the project’s life. 

2. Provisions for the removal of structures, debris, and associated equipment on the surface and 
to a level of not less than four (4) fee above the surface, and the timeline/sequence in which 
removal is expected to occur; 

3. Provisions for the restoration of the soil, vegetation and disturbed earth, which shall be 
graded and reseeded; 

4. An estimate of the decommissioning costs certified by a licensed professional engineer in 
current dollars.  The engineer providing this estimate shall submit it to the Woodbury 
County Finance/Budget Director, or their designee, for review and all costs associated with 
this engagement shall be borne by the applicant; 

5. A written financial plan approved to ensure that funds will be available for decommissioning 
and land restoration; 

6. A provision that the terms of the decommissioning plan shall be binding upon the owner or 
operator and any of their successors, assigns, or heirs. 

7. Upon review of the decommissioning plan, the Woodbury County Board of Supervisors 
shall set an amount to be held in a bond, escrow, or other acceptable form of funds approved 
by the Board.  The value of the surety shall not be reduced based on the salvage value of any 
materials or equipment.  The plan shall state that Woodbury County shall have access to the 
project and to the funds to effect or complete decommissioning one (1) year after cessation 
of operations; and,  

8. The applicant shall provide the county with a new estimate of the cost to decommission the 
US-SES project every five (5) years under the same conditions as set forth in this Sections 
above.  Salvage value of structures, electrical wire and other appurtenances shall not be 
considered within the cost estimate calculations.  Upon receipt of this new estimate, the 
county may require, and the applicant, owner, and/or operator of the US-SES project shall 
provide, a new financial plan for decommissioning acceptable to the County.  Failure to 
provide an acceptable financial plan shall be considered a cessation of operations. 

9. Release of Financial Security.  Financial security shall only be released when the Board of 
Supervisors determines, after inspection, that the conditions of the decommissioning plan 
have been met.   

s. Cleaning Chemicals and Solvents 
i. During operation of the proposed installation, all chemicals or solvents used to clean photovoltaic 

panels should be low in volatile organic compounds and the operator should use recyclable or 
biodegradable products to the extent possible.  Any on-site storage of chemicals or solvents shall be 
referenced. 

t. Road Use Agreements 
i. Applicant(s) shall adhere to the Woodbury County Road Use and Repair Agreement, and in doing 

so, shall identify all roads to be used for the purpose of transporting US-SES associated parts, 
cement, and/or equipment for construction, operation or maintenance of the US-SES and obtain 
applicable weight and size permits from the impacted road authorities prior to construction.   

u. Special Flood Hazard Area 
81



i. No portion of the US-SES site proposed for development may be located in a mapped 100-year 
floodplain. 

v. Soil Erosion and Sediment Control 
i. The applicant(s) agree to conduct all roadwork and other site development work in compliance with 

a national pollutant discharge elimination system (NPDES) permit as required by the state 
department of natural resources and comply with requirements as detailed by local jurisdictional 
authorities during the plan submittal. If subject to NPDES requirements, the applicant must submit 
the permit for review and comment, and an erosion and sediment control plan before beginning 
construction. The plan must include both general "best management practices" for temporary erosion 
and sediment control both during and after construction and permanent drainage and erosion control 
measures to prevent damage to local roads or adjacent areas and to prevent sediment-laden run-off 
into waterways. 

w. Storm Water Management 
i. The plan shall include details on stormwater rate and runoff management as well as pollutant 

removal and flood reduction. The applicant shall include a detailed analysis of pre- and post-
development stormwater runoff rates for review. Such review will incorporate appropriate 
stormwater management practices as required by the County Engineer, Woodbury County and any 
State of Iowa best practices. The plan shall include detention of specified rainfall events, and 
infiltration components consistent with practices as detailed in the state stormwater management 
manual. 

x. Compliance with Local, State, and Federal Regulations 
i. US-SES shall comply with applicable local, state, and federal regulations. 

y. Transfer 
i. Building permits and associated decommissioning and road use agreements granted under this 

Ordinance may be transferred to another party subject to the Woodbury County Board of Supervisors 
approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Any assignee of the building permits 
and associated decommissioning and road agreements shall be subject to all the requirements in this 
Ordinance and the agreements. 

z. Administration and Enforcement 
i. The Zoning Director and any necessary personnel may enter any property for which a Conditional 

Use or Building Permit has been issued under this ordinance to conduct an inspection to determine 
whether the conditions stated in the permit have been met as specified by statute, ordinance, and 
code. Failure to provide access by appointment within 48 hours of request shall be deemed a 
violation of this ordinance. 

aa. Fee Structure 
i. The Conditional Use Permit fee(s) will be approved and adopted by Resolution through the 

Woodbury County Board of Supervisors under Zoning Permit Fees. 

6. DEFINITIONS

a. Agreement.  A legally binding document signed by both a participating lawnowner and an owner or operator 
for a specific purpose, including but not limited to a contract, easement, or lease. 

b. Agrisolar or Agrivoltaics.  A utility-scale solar system co-located on the same parcel of land primarily 
adapted, by reason of nature and area, for use for agricultural production, including crop production, grazing, 
apiaries, or other agricultural products or services.  Fifty-one percent (51%) of the use of the land is for 
agricultural purposes. 

c. Applicant.  The person or entity submitting the application under this Ordinance, which is normally expected 
to be the owner or operator of a US-SES, or the owner of the US-SES development. 

d. Community Solar.  A utility-scale solar energy system developed by a municipality, utility, or other third 
party that typically allows community members to subscribe to the project. 

e. Conditional Use Permit (CUP).  A use that is allowed in conformance with the regulations of the zoning 
district in which it is located, if and only if, approved by the Board of Adjustment as provided in subsection 
2.02-9.  A CUP issued by the Woodbury County Board of Adjustment is required before associated building 
permit(s) can be issued in unincorporated Woodbury County.  

82



f. Concentrating Solar Power Systems.  A system that generates solar power by using mirrors, lenses, or similar 
reflecting surfaces to concentrate sunlight collected over large areas onto smaller focal areas. 

g. Corn Suitability Rating 2 (CSR2).  An index to the inherent soil productivity of each kind of soil for row 
crop production. The index is scaled from 100, for the most productive soils, to 5 as the least productive. 

h. Critical Slope Angle.  The maximum slope incline which the soil and rock materials underlying the slope can 
support, without failure, under existing climate, vegetation, and land use. 

i. Developed Project Areas.  The total project area that is subject toa an agreement between the 
Owner/Operator and the Participating Landowner and is actually developed and utilized for placement of a 
US-SES. 

j. Easement.  A legal agreement for the use of property for a specified purpose. 

k. Feeder Circuits/Lines.  A power line or network of lines used as a collection system that carries energy 
produced by a solar energy system to an interconnection point like a substation.  Feeder circuits are most 
often placed underground. 

l. Glare/Glint.  Light reflected off of a surface. 

m. Ground-Mounted System.  A system where a rack(s) of panels is mounted on concrete posts or poles 
anchored in the ground and are wired or plumbed to an adjacent home or structure. 

n. Interconnection.  Link between a generator of electricity and the electric grid.  Interconnection typically 
requires connection via infrastructure such as power lines and a substation, as well as a legal agreement for 
the project to be connected to the grid. 

o. Module.  An individual unit comprised of multiple photovoltaic (PV) cells, with multiple modules used in a 
solar energy system. 

p. Mounting.  The method of anchoring solar energy system modules to the ground or a building. 

q. Non-Participating Landowner.  A landowner who has not signed a binding agreement with the 
Applicant/Developer/Owner of the US-SES project. 

r. Occupied Structure.  For the purpose of this ordinance, shall include any existing occupied house, apartment, 
barn, or machine shed regularly used by the property owner, or parties in possession of the property at the 
time of the permit application. 

s. Operator.  The entity or individual that operates a solar energy system. 

t. Owner.  The entity or entities with an equity interest in the US-SES, including their respective successors and 
assigns.  Owner does not mean the landowner from whom a lease, easement, or other property right is 
acquired for locating the US-SES unless the landowner has an equity interest in the US-SES, or any person 
holding a security interest in the US-SES solely to secure an extension of credit, or a person foreclosing on 
such security interest provided that after foreclosure, such person seeks to sell the US-SES at the earliest 
practical date.   

u. Participating Landowner.  A landowner under lease, easement or other binding property agreement with the 
applicant, developer, or owner of the US-SES. 

v. Photovoltaic (PV) Cells.  Semiconductors which generate electricity whenever light strikes them; generally 
grouped on panels. 

w. Professional Engineer.  A qualified individual who is licensed in the State of Iowa as a professional engineer. 

83



x. Project Area.  The geographic area encompassing all components of a US-SES project, including border 
fencing. 

y. Property Line.  The legal boundary between separately owned real estate parcels, and between privately 
owned parcels and public owned land or public right of way. 

z. Residence.  A house, apartment or other shelter that is the abode of a person, family, or household and 
regularly occupied. 

aa. Setback.  The minimum distance from a certain object, structure or point to the edge of any part or 
component of the US-SES. 

bb. Slope.  The inclination of the land surface from the horizontal, with the steeper and longer having the most 
erosion potential.   

cc. Solar Array. Equipment used for private or utility scale solar energy systems. Can be mounted on primary or 
accessory structures, on a racking system affixed to the ground, or integrated as a mechanical or structural 
component of a structure. 

dd. Solar Collector.  A device, structure or part of a device or structure for which the primary purpose is to 
transform solar radiant energy into thermal, mechanical, chemical, or electrical energy. 

ee. Solar Easement.  An easement created to protect a solar project from encroachment by adjacent properties 
which would shade panels.  See Iowa Code 564A. 

ff. Solar Energy.  Radiant energy received from the sun that can be collected in the form of heat or light by a 
solar collector. 

gg. Solar Energy Systems, Private.  An energy system that converts solar energy to usable thermal, mechanical, 
chemical, or electrical energy primarily for immediate onsite use that already has an existing principal use on 
the same parcel. Solar Energy Systems, Private shall be allowed only as a non-utility scale accessory use to a 
permitted principal use. Surplus energy sold back to a utility must comply with all applicable laws including 
but not limited to Section 199, Chapter 15.11(5) of Iowa Administrative Code, and all requirements of the 
Iowa Utilities Board. Systems can be mounted on primary or accessory structures, on a racking system 
affixed to the ground, or integrated as a mechanical or structural component of a structure. 

hh. Solar Energy Systems, Utility Scale (US-SES). An energy system, commonly referred to as a “solar farm”, 
which converts solar energy to useable thermal, mechanical, chemical, or electrical energy primarily for 
transmission through the electrical grid for offsite use or wholesale and/or retail sale. Systems can be 
mounted on primary or accessory structures, on a racking system affixed to the ground, or integrated as a 
mechanical or structural component of a structure. Utility scale solar energy systems do not include 
concentrating solar power (CSP) systems. 

ii. Solar Panel.  1) A grouping of photovoltaic cells used to generate electricity directly from sunlight.  A 
grouping of these panels is called an array. 2) A panel circulating water or other liquid through tubes to 
collect, transfer and store the sun’s heat for domestic hot water and building heat. 

jj. Solar Storage Battery.  A device that stores energy from the sun and makes it available in an electrical form. 

kk. Solar Storage Unit.  A component of a solar energy deice that is used to store solar-generated electricity or 
heat for later use. 

ll. Solar Thermal Energy System (STES).  A system that directly heats water or other liquids using sunlight.  
The heated liquid is used for such purposes as space heating and cooling, domestic hot water, and hearing 
pool water. 

mm. Structure.  Anything constructed or erected on the ground or attached to the ground, including but not limited 
to, antenna(s), buildings, sheds, cabins, residences, signs, storage tanks, towers, wind turbines and other 

84



similar objects.   

nn. Structure-Mounted Energy System.  A system where photovoltaic panels or solar thermal panels are mounted 
on racks attached to the roof or side-walls of a building.  Panels can be flush-mounted or angled for optimal 
sun exposure.   

oo. Substation.  A facility that converts electricity produced by a generator like a solar energy system to a higher 
voltage, allowing for interconnection to high-voltage transmission lines. 

pp. System Height.  THe height of a solar energy system, usually referring to ground mounted systems.  Total 
system heigh is the measurement from the ground to the top of the mounting or modules associated with a 
system.   

qq. Transmission lines.  Power lines used to carry electricity from collection systems or substations over long 
distances. 

85



ZONING COMMISSION 
Preparation for a Recommendation to the Board of Supervisors 

Utility-Scale Solar Energy Systems (US-SES)

UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR SYSTEMS CONSIDERATIONS FOR AN ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 

Consideration 1: A conditional use permit for AP “C” with Planning and Zoning and Board of Adjustment to be able to site-specifically 
take into consideration the concerns of neighbors, land/sol, and other factors when approving permit. 

 Public Notification: Newspaper Legals and Letter to Property Owners within 1 mile regarding public hearing before Board of 
Adjustment and Zoning Commission consideration. 

 Land/Soil: Corn Suitability Rating 2 (CSR2) and Soil Types with Slope Content 

o CSR2 Average by Parcel in Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District *Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

 Using 65+ CSR2 

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 65  
 204,405.91 Acres 

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 75 
 115,504.96 Acres 

86



o CSR2 Average by Parcel in Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District *Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 65  
 204,405.91 Acres 

 Agricultural Preservation: Estimated Total acres based on Schneider/Beacon gross acres with gross CSR2 greater than 75 
 115,504.96 Acres 

87



Consideration 2: A slope of no more than 5% in order to preserve the land and to account for soil erosion, compaction, and future land 
stewardship.

Soil Slope and CSR2 Comparison 

*NRCS data collected from the Assessor’s website via Woodbury County Secondary Roads

88



o Soil Types with Slope Content *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

89



*NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

90



o Soil Types with Slope content greater than 5% (Red) *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

*NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

91



o Areas with soil slopes between 0-5% *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

o Areas with soil slopes greater than 5% *NRCS Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

92



o Floodplain and Soils with Slope over 5% *NRCS data and floodplain Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon

 Blue Represents Floodplain Areas 
 Red represents areas with Slope over 5% 
 Green represents areas with Slope under 5% 

o Floodplain and CSR2 *NRCS data and floodplain Data acquired via Schneider/Beacon 

 Floodplain – “Blue” 
 CSR2 –  

 0-35 – “Green” 
 35-64– “Brown” 
 65-100 = “Red” 

93



Consideration 3: A maximum height of no more than 20’ for panel structures.  

 Language could be considered that places a 20’ height limitation on the solar panels.   
o According to the Renewable Solar Energy Systems Model Ordinance by Guyer and Snell, 20 FT is offered as a possible 

height limitation for consideration.  However, if agrisolar systems are to be considered in the future, the bulk regulations 
of the zoning district could be considered which are 45 FT.  According to the AgriSolar Clearinghouse, “maximum 
heights range from 12 to 45 feet.  Most fall between 15 and 25 feet” (Website: https://www.agrisolarclearinghouse.org/) 

County Location 
Population 
(2023) 

Height 
Requirement 

Adair 7,439 Unspecified.  

Clayton 16,716 Reverts to 
Zoning 
Ordinance.  
Varies: 25 to 
35 FT.

Clinton 45,662 Bulk 
regulations 
of the 
ordinance 
for structures 
by Zoning 
District.

Dubuque 100,949 Bulk 
regulations 
of the 
ordinance 
for structures 
by Zoning 
District.

Johnson 159,445 35 FT 

Linn 236,020 Not 
referenced. 

Louisa 10,672 Not 
referenced. 

Mills 14,310 15 FT at a 
maximum 
tilt. 

Monona 8,604 No 
restriction. 

Muscatine 43,382 Bulk 
regulations. 

Polk 510,929 Bulk 
regulations. 

Ringgold 4,522 No 
reference. 

94



Scott 177,501 Bulk 
regulations 
of the 
ordinance 
for structures 
by Zoning 
District.

Tama 16,946 TBD 

Consideration 4: Of all AP, no more than 49% can be in such a project.  In short, 51% must be for agricultural production or no longer 
considered “AP.”

 This is to consider the co-existence of agricultural and utility solar.  If a solar project is to co-exist on farm ground, it may be 
considered to require that 51% of the project be used to support agricultural purposes. 

Consideration 5: Utility solar can be no more than 2% of all AP “agricultural preservation,” preserving 98% of AP.  This equates to 
approximately 8,540 acres of the 427,000 acres of ag land, ag land constituting 75% of the 570,000 total acres in Woodbury County.

 Based on GIS data calculated by WCICC, it appears the Agricultural Preservation (AP) Zoning District is comprised of 
508,624.55 total assessed acres.  If a 2% cap is instituted, this would make approximately 10,172.49 acres available for 
consideration for utility-solar in the AP Zoning District.  

Zoning District Total Assessed Net Acres 2% Cap 
Agricultural Preservation (AP) 508,624.55 10,172.49 

General Industrial (GI) 9,051.89 - 

95



Consideration 6: Current notification for utility-scale solar shall be 1 mile for public comment instead of 500 feet.

 As a conditional use, the notification area of 500 FT from the project site could be expanded to one (1) mile.  It will be important 
to note, that this could increase administrative costs.  However, the Board of Supervisors did revise the fee schedule on August 2, 
2022 to require the owners(s)/applicant(s) for conditional use permits to pay additional costs associated with the processing, 
printing, and the mailing of notifications of the public hearings when the number of mailings exceeds 30.  They shall also pay the 
additional costs of the legal publication notice(s) in newspaper(s) when the fees exceed $100.00.   

 The Zoning Commission may also make recommendations to the fee structure for utility-scale solar conditional use permits.    

Consideration 7: A requirement (or at least strong consideration) that the utility-scale solar project either be on a landowner’s property or 
that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County.

 The Zoning Commission might consider either a requirement or consideration that the utility-scale solar project either be on a 
landowner’s property or that the owner of the land be a resident of Woodbury County. 

96


	1) ZC_AGENDA_9-25-23
	2) ZC Minutes 09-11-2023
	3) Townley_Addition_Minor_Subdivsion_Report_1
	4) Nextlink_Report_CUP
	5) Public_Hearing_US-SES



